UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Human-Robot Action Teams: A Behavioral Analysis of Team Dynamics

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6jp635j6

Author

Haripriyan, Arthi

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO

Human-Robot Action Teams: A Behavioral Analysis of Team Dynamics

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Master of Science

in

Computer Science

by

Arthi Haripriyan

Committee in charge:

Professor Laurel Riek, Chair Professor Morana Alac Professor Kristen Vaccaro

Copyright Arthi Haripriyan, 2024 All rights reserved. The Thesis of Arthi Haripriyan is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically.

University of California San Diego

2024

Thesis A	pproval Page	iii
Table of	Contents	iv
List of Fi	igures	vi
List of Ta	ables	vii
Acknowl	edgements	viii
Vita		ix
Abstract	of the Thesis	X
Introduct	tion	1
Chapter 1.1 1.2 1.3	1BackgroundHuman-Robot TeamingHow Robots Impact Team DynamicsMethods For Studying Team Dynamics	4 4 5 6
Chapter 2 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6	2 Methodology Participants	8 9 10 12 13 14
Chapter 3.1	3 Findings Othering of the Robot	16 16 16 19 19
3.2	Workarounds to Interact With the Robot3.2.1Using Simplified Language to Match Robot Capabilities3.2.2Adapting Tasks to Robot Capabilities3.2.3Accounting for Robot SpeedBala Emergence	20 20 21 22
3.3	Role Emergence 3.3.1 Robot Mediator 3.3.2 Robot Manager 3.3.3 Leadership	23 24 24 25
3.4	Robot Intent and Explainability	27

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	3.4.1	Misleading Verbal Behavior	27
	3.4.2	Expectations Arising From Robot Embodiment	27
	3.4.3	Directional and Social Cues	28
Chapter	4 D	iscussion	29
4.1	Error T	Colerance in High Stakes Environments	29
4.2	Manag	ing Expectations Arising from the Robot's Physical Embodiment	30
	4.2.1	Need For Explainability	31
4.3	Adapta	tion	32
	4.3.1	Role Emergence	33
	4.3.2	Mitigating Outgroup Perception	34
	4.3.3	Need for Social Skills	34
4.4	Implica	ations for HRI	35
Bibliogr	aphy		38

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	We designed an escape room study that used Stretch. It could manipulate objects in the environment and talk to people. It could perform handovers, help find objects, read encrypted data, and help with hazardous tasks	10
Figure 2.2.	Examples of proactive and passive robot behavior. (a): The proactive robot notices the team is stuck, and takes initiative to assist its teammates. (b): The passive robot waits for a human-request before assisting the team	11
Figure 2.3.	Examples of the Stretch robot supporting the team in the escape room. <i>Clockwise from top</i> : Stretch interacts with participants during the ice- breaker, participants solve a puzzle and the robot hands over an item they need, Stretch reminds users about safety considerations during first aid	12
Figure 2.4.	Our study lasted 2 hours, and included an icebreaker and two escape rooms, with data collection at key points.	13
Figure 2.5.	ELAN tool used to annotate videos.	15
Figure 3.1.	G3P3 displays othering behavior towards the robot by expressing mocking laughter in response to Stretch's slow and imprecise movements while picking up a block	17
Figure 3.2.	Group 4 expresses othering behavior by huddling together, apart from the robot, and discussing their preference for robot behaviors	18
Figure 3.3.	G4P3 simplified their prompts to the robot so that it could respond with yes or no.	21
Figure 3.4.	The robot experiences a hardware issue that prevents it from immediately handing over the object. G1P2 patiently waits for the robot to open its gripper.	22
Figure 3.5.	When the robot is retrieving the item, G2P2 reaches over to take the item that is stuck. This is an example of how participants modified their actions to workaround the robot.	23

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.	Participants' Self Reported Ethnicity	9
Table 2.2.	Participants' Self Reported Ethnicity	9
Table 2.3.	Annotation and Coding Examples	14

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge all of those who have contributed to the completion of this thesis.

I am grateful to Dr. Laurel Riek for her guidance, support, and mentorship throughout the journey of this thesis. I extend my appreciation to my thesis committee members Dr. Kristen Vaccaro and Dr. Morana Alac for their time and constructive feedback. Their thorough review and thoughtful input have significantly improved the quality and depth of this work.

I am fortunate to have had the opportunity to collaborate and learn alongside my dedicated labmates. Their friendship has transformed what would have been a purely academic endeavor into a very rewarding experience.

I want to especially thank Rabeya Jamshad and Preeti Ramaraj who dedicated their time and effort to assist with my thesis. Their patience made countless late nights and marathon meetings much more bearable.

To my family, friends, and partner, your constant support and encouragement have helped me navigate a career change that I never thought possible.

My research was made possible by the Office of Naval Research (ONR).

The methodology and general framing of this thesis draws upon "Taking Initiative in Human-Robot Action Teams: How Proactive Robot Behaviors Affect Teamwork" by R. Jamshad, R., A. Haripriyan, A. Sonti, S. Simkins, and L. D. Riek, which appears in Companion Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human Robot Interaction (HRI), 2024.

Some of the analysis in this work overlaps with "Analysis of Social Signals in Human-Robot Action Teams" by P. Ramaraj, A. Haripriyan, R. Jamshad, and L. D. Riek, which appears in SS4HRI: Social Signal Modeling in Human-Robot Interaction Workshop (HRI), 2024.

VITA

2016	Bachelor of Arts, Reed College
2024	Master of Science, University of California, San Diego

PUBLICATIONS

Ghosh, P., Haripriyan, A., Chow, A., Redfield, S., & Riek, L. D. "Envisioning Mobile Telemanipulator Robots for Long Covid". In Companion Proc. of the ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), 2024.

Ghosh, P., Haripriyan, A., Chow, A., Redfield, S., & Riek, L. D. "Envisioning Mobile Telepresence Robots for Long Covid: A Critical Disability Lens". In review.

Jamshad, R., Haripriyan, A., Sonti, A., Simkins, S., & Riek, L. D. "Taking Initiative in Human-Robot Action Teams: How Proactive Robot Behaviors Affect Teamwork". In Companion Proc. of the ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human Robot Interaction (HRI), 2024.

Jamshad, R., Haripriyan, A., Sonti, A., Simkins, S., & Riek, L. D. (2024) "Taking Initiative in Human-Robot Action Teams: How Proactive Robot Behaviors Affect Teamwork". In Review.

Ramaraj, P., Haripriyan, A., Jamshad, R., & Riek, L. D. "Analysis of Social Signals in Human-Robot Action Teams". SS4HRI: Social Signal Modeling in Human-Robot Interaction Workshop (HRI), 2024.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Human-Robot Action Teams: A Behavioral Analysis of Team Dynamics

by

Arthi Haripriyan

Master of Science in Computer Science

University of California San Diego, 2024

Professor Laurel Riek, Chair

Robots are increasingly being used to support human groups and teams. Action teams (such as in emergency healthcare or disaster response) experience high workloads, must work quickly, and must make decisions under uncertainty. They often perform critical tasks where errors or delays can lead to grave harm. Therefore, robots in these teams must be designed and contextualized to not contribute to errors or interrupt human team workflow. In this study, we conducted a behavioral analysis of human-robot action teams as they collaborated with each other to complete tasks in escape rooms to better understand how a robot's actions influenced intra-team dynamics and how team characteristics affected human-robot teaming. Our findings highlight the importance of robots' functional and social contributions for acceptance within

teams, the adaptive nature of teaming behavior in response to perceived robot capabilities, and the significance of the robot's nonverbal cues in shaping human expectations. These insights offer valuable implications for designing effective human-robot interactions in collaborative environments.

Introduction

Teams play a vital role in how humans work together. They foster collaboration and interdisciplinary work by leveraging diverse expertise to efficiently achieve complex goals. [6,28,71]. Understanding team dynamics is important as they affect performance [9,42], error avoidance [37,62], and team member satisfaction [23,96].

This is particularly important for action teams working in fast-paced settings, such as the emergency department or search and rescue [17,70,74]. Action teams experience high workloads, and must make swift decisions under uncertain conditions. Fostering robust team dynamics is important for action teams to avoid negative outcomes [20,58]. For example, in the operating room, poor team cohesion can lead to patient harm, at least half of which could be avoided through better interpersonal skills [15]. Similarly, in firefighting teams, task cohesion influences accident occurrence [35].

Recently, there has been interest in introducing robots into action teams [56,132]. Researchers that extend human-human action teams research to human-robot action teams found that good teams have common goals, share mental models, engage in clear communication, foster awareness of team members' abilities and roles, and engage in feasible tasks [24,25,44,54,97]. Robots can play an essential role in action teams as they can do tasks that might be difficult for humans or that do not require human-specific skills. For example, following natural disasters, robots have been deployed to examine unstable buildings and locate survivors [115,129].

Given the rapid pace of these teams, there are many opportunities for ineffective or erroneous robot intervention, which can be dangerous for team success, or worse can lead to irreparable harm or even death. A robot can fail due to several reasons, such as: 1) physical errors in its effectors, sensors, etc., 2) performance errors such as failing to register a spoken command in a noisy environment, or 3) social errors such as interrupting a user at an inappropriate time during a conversation [51,133]. These can in turn contribute to team failure [122]. If robots are to effectively support action teams, they must operate carefully, as the costs and risks associated with failure are high.

Adding a robot to a team can affect human-human dynamics within the team such as trust [57], conversational dynamics [120], team inclusion [114], and group cohesion [32]. The roles and actions of a robot team can influence human-human interactions within a team [39]. They can also influence the team's perceptions of the robot and the team's acceptance of the robot as a team member [33]. Another study that used a robot moderator during a three-person collaborative game showed that group cohesion could be actively influenced by the robot based on its behavior [108]. Therefore, to successfully integrate robots into teams, it is important to understand human-robot team dynamics.

Researchers have extensively explored human-robot team dynamics across various contexts, including gaze [89,124], proxemics [99], and leader-follower dynamics [75]. For example, one study investigated how individuals adapt their roles in response to changing capabilities and found that participants who took the lead more often valued the collaboration with the robot more negatively than other participants [123]. Additionally, research on robot responses to human emotions found approaching behavior suitable for fear, sadness, and joy, while moving away was often considered inappropriate [87].

Our work addresses three gaps in the field of studying team dynamics in HRI: First, prior literature on human-robot teams mostly involves dyads, which does not accurately reflect the interaction dynamics that exist within teams of three or more members. Secondly, there is a need to move away from structured tasks to more dynamic processes that will allow us to study team characteristics. Lastly, there is a dearth in the literature on capitalizing on non-verbal behavioral data to understand action team dynamics and how robot behavior influences them.

Therefore, in our work, we explore the following research questions: 1) How do action

team characteristics affect how team members interact with and respond to a robot? and 2) How do a robot's actions influence intra-team dynamics?

We conducted a study [56] in which teams of three participants and a robot completed challenges together in two escape rooms. The robot acted in either a proactive or passive manner when supporting the team in each escape room. In the proactive condition, the robot initiated speech and actions to further the team's progress, whereas in the passive condition, the robot only acted when participants explicitly asked for help. We used Reflexive Thematic Analysis (RTA) to analyze teaming behaviors and characteristics from the video and audio data collected.

Our analysis yielded several key insights into human-robot teaming. First, we found that teams displayed othering behavior towards the robot, despite the interdependence between the robot and the team during the tasks. Second, we identified the emergence of leaders, robot managers, and robot mediators to support the team's progress. Third, we observed participants employing workarounds to facilitate collaboration with the robot to account for its limitations. Finally, our study revealed that some participants were confused by the robot's behavior and embodiment, but this also created opportunities for unique interactions when teaming with the robot.

Our work provides insights into how action team dynamics are influenced by robot behaviors. First, our work highlights that a robot's acceptance depends on its ability to contribute in terms of function and sociability. Second, our work explores how people in action teams adapt their teaming behavior to accommodate perceived robot capabilities. Third, our study demonstrates the impact of the robot's nonverbal behavior and embodiment on people's expectations of its capabilities. It also discusses how roboticists can manage these expectations.

Chapter 1 Background

1.1 Human-Robot Teaming

Robots are increasingly playing a supportive role within human groups, spanning diverse fields such as manufacturing [104,126], education [2,4], and healthcare [70,94,100]. For instance, in manufacturing, robots can help with picking and placing in the production lines, welding processes, and parts assembly [104]. In healthcare, they can support overburdened healthcare workers by preparing tools for procedures, delivering items, or supporting people with home health management [40,68,69,77].

Most work on human-robot teams has focused on dyadic interactions, including how factors such as trust [80], turn-taking [83], coordination [48], and shared cognition [16] affect dyadic team performance [27]. However, in many contexts, people are more likely to work in groups, rather than just dyads, both socially such as in museums [110] and shopping malls [107], and professionally, such as in healthcare [17,117] and firefighting [10]. Robots interacting with human groups introduce new challenges [18,34] such as understanding the robot's influence on human-human interactions within the group, which are not extensively explored in the human-robot teaming literature [39].

Prior work on human-robot teams has explored communication [11,89], trust recovery [30,119], coordination [52,53], and cohesion [86,91]. These studies usually involve structured and/or tabletop tasks like building towers from blocks [59,128]. However, it is important to look

at *action teams* and how robots can support them because they provide insights into how teams function in dynamic, time-critical situations.

Action teams are teams that work in dynamic and complex environments where mistakes can potentially threaten human life and well-being [60,82]. Examples include emergency medical teams, first responders, and aviation teams [79,121]. A robot may be able to support these teams by taking over dangerous or repetitive tasks, fetching supplies, or finding information. However, in order to be an effective teammate, a robot must be able to support team performance [26,48] and team dynamics [31,120].

Effective coordination in action teams may be further impacted if they are ad-hoc teams, and have no prior experience working together [47,63]. Effective human-human teaming is grounded in team situation awareness [105], team cognition [81,98], and teamwork skills [41,118].

1.2 How Robots Impact Team Dynamics

Robots must be carefully designed to support teams as robots can affect team dynamics. For example, the selective placement of an item by a robot can inadvertently create tension between human teammates, as it may seem to reject one participant, placing them in a vulnerable position [59]. In another study [103], researchers investigated how robot verbal support affected inclusion in collaborative tasks. Groups consisted of two ingroup members, one outgroup member, and one robot to assess the efficacy of robot interventions for aiding the outgroup member. Surprisingly, while the robot's targeted support increased outgroup participation, it also seemed to reduce verbal support from ingroup members.

A specific behavior that can affect team dynamics is robot initiative. Baraglia et al. [5] defines initiative as when a robot should help in human-robot interactions. This is especially important to consider as proactive robots, characterized by their initiative-taking capabilities, can autonomously decide the course of action in human-robot interactions, potentially altering

the balance of control over task progress. In contrast, passive robots rely on human input for every decision, ensuring that humans retain complete control over the actions taken. Therefore, understanding the implications of robot initiative on team dynamics is crucial, as it determines the degree of autonomy and influence granted to robots in collaborative settings. This can directly affect team dynamics and perceptions of the robot.

For example, a robot expressing its intent through anticipatory cues significantly increased team efficiency, human safety, collaborative fluency, and fostered positive attitudes towards the robot [88]. Additionally, robots that provide proactive explanations were easier to understand [112] and perceived as more trustworthy [134]. Similarly, people perceive a robot expressing socially-adaptive proactivity as more competent and reliable than a non-adaptive robot [66]. Therefore, proactivity should be considered in robot design to enable robots to better support teaming.

1.3 Methods For Studying Team Dynamics

Team dynamics have been explored through analysis of team behaviors including verbal and non-verbal interactions. Prior work analyzed behavioral data such as body pose [7,36], eye gaze [64], hand gestures such as pointing [65,73], handovers, and grasping [84]. However much of these are analyzed in the context of machine learning and computer vision [76,89,106,116]. While these tools can support the detection of social signals such as the ones listed above, deeper analysis is required to understand how these signals may impact human-robot teams and team attitudes toward the robot.

Additionally, there is a lack of existing literature that explores non-verbal human-robot behaviors in action teams. Behavioral data collected during group collaboration can provide insight into information that might not be obvious or explicit, such as non-verbal communication or group proxemics [74,124]. This is important for action teams as efficient collaboration within action teams relies on the capacity to recognize and react to subtle cues, including non-verbal

communication. This enables smooth interactions and effective task execution. For example, in one study that observed ad-hoc anesthesia teams, participants demonstrated familiarity with tasks through nods, looks, and simple gestures, facilitating implicit communication. Team members frequently passed equipment to one another, indicating a shared understanding of their roles [8]. This is important for team coordination and can provide insights for improving team performance.

Video-based behavior observations allow for the exploration of real-time behaviors and interaction patterns, revealing nuances often overlooked by casual observation [125]. For example, one study [67] conducted a frame-by-frame video analysis of human-human handovers and found that transitioning the robot's gaze from the giver's face to the giver's hand enhances perceptions of likability, anthropomorphism, and communication of timing. Thus, this type of qualitative video analysis lends itself to studying group dynamics in a human-robot teaming context and the ability to revisit videos strengthens the analysis process.

Chapter 2 Methodology

We ran a study that examined how proactive robot behaviors affect teams and their perceptions of the robot [56]. The study was a 2 (proactive or passive robot) x 2 (hazard or medical) escape rooms within-subjects design, counterbalanced between the conditions to avoid order effects [49]. We followed a Wizard of Oz [93] design to control the robot's speech and actions, and allowed participants to believe the robot was autonomous.

We collected multiple types of data from interviews, surveys, microphones, and cameras. In this thesis, we focus on a video analysis of the behavioral data. The reader can review Jamshad et al. [56] for other analyses from this experiment. This study was declared exempt by the UC San Diego IRB, under protocol # 803126.

2.1 Participants

We recruited participants through flyers and interpersonal communication. After participants expressed interest in the study, one of the researchers scheduled a Zoom call to explain the process and obtain consent. Participants then provided their availability and were assigned to adhoc teams of three. Participants received a \$40 gift card as compensation for their participation.

We conducted the study with 15 participants. Seven identified as women and eight as men. Five participants were 18 - 24 yrs., nine were 25 - 34 yrs., and one was 35 - 44 yrs. Four participants were undergraduates, seven were graduate students, three were professionals, and

First Language	Number of Participants
English	9
Spanish	2
Kannada	1
Marathi	1
Chinese	1
Korean	1

 Table 2.1. Participants' Self Reported First Language.

Table 2.2. Participants' Self Reported Ethnicity.

Number of Participants	
3	
6	
1	
1	
2	
Z	
1	
1	
2	

one did not specify. For more demographic information on native language and ethnicity, see (Tables 2.1 and 2.2).

2.2 Robot Design

We used the Stretch from Hello Robot [61], a mobile manipulator, with a base for navigation and a gripper for manipulating objects in the environment (Fig. 2.1). It is also capable of audio communication, and we added a Bluetooth speaker to improve audio quality and volume. We added cameras to the gripper and to Stretch's head to improve the situational awareness of the robot operator. We also mounted a tablet with a blinking and smiling face to support interactions with Stretch.

We programmed the Stretch to have preset speech options. These were implemented by adding labeled audio buttons to the control interface built by Ghosh et al. [38], for an operator to



Figure 2.1. We designed an escape room study that used Stretch. It could manipulate objects in the environment and talk to people. It could perform handovers, help find objects, read encrypted data, and help with hazardous tasks.

use while controlling Stretch.

We controlled the robot behaviors based on the study condition - either passive or proactive (Fig. 2.2). In the proactive condition, the robot initiated speech and actions to further the team in their task whenever possible. In the passive condition, the robot only acted when explicitly asked for help by the participants.

2.3 Escape Room Design

We conducted an escape room study to understand human-robot teaming [55,56]. Participants collaborated with the robot in two escape rooms, each made up of three different challenges. Participants followed instructions on how to complete the challenges, which were shared with them in the form of a clue. Therefore, each challenge had a clue associated with it. Each challenge consists of several tasks that the robot and team members must perform to



Figure 2.2. Examples of proactive and passive robot behavior. (a): The proactive robot notices the team is stuck, and takes initiative to assist its teammates. (b): The passive robot waits for a human-request before assisting the team.

complete the challenge before they can move to the next challenge in the same escape room. The escape rooms required participants to communicate for effective collaboration because certain tasks could only be accomplished by specific team members identified by the player ID. This was intended to replicate the expertise of different members in for example emergency medicine action teams. The teams were collaborating on a time-constrained task and we hoped that this would replicate the time-constrained nature of real action teams such as firefighters and emergency medical teams.

One researcher interacted with the participants, one teleoperated the robot to act as the participants' team member, and one controlled the camera recordings. We followed best practices in escape room design as described in [21,43].

The escape rooms were designed to be comparable in difficulty and types of tasks to mitigate order effects (Fig. 2.3). One escape room had a hazard cleanup theme in which participants acted as first responders to a chemical spill and had to secure the area. In the second room, participants acted as a medical emergency response team and were required to administer care to a patient mannequin. Tasks were designed to take advantage of unique robot capabilities such as the ability to read QR codes, check for toxins, and fetch items in restricted areas. For more details on the robot and escape room design, please see the appendix of [56].



Figure 2.3. Examples of the Stretch robot supporting the team in the escape room. *Clockwise from top*: Stretch interacts with participants during the icebreaker, participants solve a puzzle and the robot hands over an item they need, Stretch reminds users about safety considerations during first aid.

2.4 Procedure

Participants arrived at the lab and were greeted by a researcher. They were given flyers to introduce them to the robot and its capabilities. They then participated in a short icebreaker activity with the robot to reduce novelty effects.

Next, the researcher explained that the participants would be completing two escape rooms and introduced the general rules and the first room's scenario. Participants entered the escape room and had 20 minutes to complete as many of the three tasks as possible. After 20 minutes, they exited and completed a first round of surveys and interviews. We then introduced the participants to the second escape room and again gave them 20 minutes to complete as many of the three given tasks as possible. They then completed a second round of surveys and

Start Scale 3 min	Icebreaker/Intro to Study 7 min	First Escape Room 20 min	Surveys and Group Interviews 20 min	Break 10 min	Second Escape Room 20 min	Surveys and Group Interviews 40 min	End
----------------------	---------------------------------------	-----------------------------	-------------------------------------------	-----------------	------------------------------	----------------------------------------	-----

Figure 2.4. Our study lasted 2 hours, and included an icebreaker and two escape rooms, with data collection at key points.

interviews as before. Finally, the researcher debriefed the participants. Overall, the study took a total of 120 minutes, which is summarized in Fig. 2.4.

2.5 Data Collection

We set up ten Mevo Start cameras at various angles around the room with enough overlap to ensure there were no blind spots. We used the Mevo Multicam application to stream and record multiple Mevo cameras at once. We ran the application on two Android tablets. One tablet streamed data from eight cameras which covered areas that were safe for humans to operate in. The other tablet streamed data from two cameras that provided coverage of areas that were unsafe for people to enter, so only the robot could enter these areas.

In the Mevo Multicam application running on the two tablets, we selected view frames from the ten cameras to track people around the room. This resulted in two 20-minute streams for each group tracking the participants in the escape room which were recorded on each of the two tablets.

We collected audio data through wireless lapel microphones, which participants wore around the collarbone for clear voice capture. We recorded microphone data using the Open Broadcaster system [92]. Mevo Start cameras also had built-in microphones but due to ambient noise, data from these microphones lacked clarity, and we only used them as a secondary audio source when needed.

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Tier Level	Annotation	Code(s)	
Participant	P3 thanks stretch for	Robot appreciation	
	bringing yellow block		
Robot	Robot suggests rereading the	Robot speech	
	clue	1	
	P1 and P2 take air purifier		
Group	out, try to figure out how to	Task progression, Teamwork	
	turn it on		

Table 2.3. Example annotations and codes for each of the ELAN tiers.

2.6 Data Analysis

We conducted a behavioral analysis of the escape room video data. This method allowed us to gain a more nuanced understanding of social behaviors and human-robot interactions that would have influenced team dynamics and team decisions.

We analyzed ten escape room videos, two from each team. Three researchers performed data coding such that each video was annotated by two coders.

We used the ELAN tool [1] to annotate participants' behaviors and actions. In ELAN, annotations can be organized into different groups, called tiers. We had five primary tiers: Group Behavior, Robot behavior, and one for each participant (labeled P1, P2, and P3). Group Behavior included actions that involved more than one participant (such as group huddles). We identified and annotated verbal behaviors, such as speech, and non-verbal behaviors, including movement, handovers, laughter, gestures, and expressions. Additionally, we recorded relevant information regarding who the interactions involved - individual, robot, participant-participant(s), participant-robot.

We transcribed observed behaviors such as movement and salient interactions such as handovers and nonverbal gestures (Fig. 2.5). Annotations were time-aligned to span the entire behavior observed in the video. Examples of annotations for each of the ELAN tiers and their corresponding code(s) are shown in Table 2.3.

We then analyzed the data using Reflexive Thematic Analysis (RTA) [12]. RTA allows



Figure 2.5. ELAN tool used to annotate videos.

for a more dynamic and subjective examination of qualitative data, which is important for understanding both individual and group experiences of the participants [12].

Three researchers first independently coded the data, moving from low-level descriptions to high-level team behaviors. Then we met to iteratively discuss our codes and develop a deeper understanding of the data and observed behaviors. Finally, the researchers refined and organized these patterns into themes that ultimately summarized participant group behavior. Since RTA emphasizes the coder's reflection of the data over coding consensus we did not calculate interrater reliability, which aligns with the RTA methodology [13] and most qualitative research published in the HCI/CSCW communities [78].

Chapter 3

Findings

In our study, we observed a diverse range of participant behaviors and interactions with the robot that offered valuable insights into how they work alongside a robot teammate. The overarching patterns are: othering of the robot, workarounds for managing robot capabilities, role emergence, and robot intent and explainability. We discuss each of these in further detail below.

3.1 Othering of the Robot

Othering is the process by which individuals or groups define themselves as part of an ingroup and perceive others as part of an out-group. This distinction is often created by highlighting desirable characteristics within the in-group while attributing undesirable characteristics to the out-group, thereby reinforcing social boundaries and distinctions between the two groups [14]. We observed participants othering the robot due to negative perceptions about the robot. This resulted in attempts to manage robot errors and ignore its contributions.

3.1.1 Negative Perceptions About the Robot

We observed that many groups had negative perceptions of the robot, which were expressed through both verbal and nonverbal behaviors.

For example, Group 3 commented out loud, "*Oh my god*", or expressed nonverbal behaviors like laughter and sneering in response to the robot's movements. When Stretch



Figure 3.1. G3P3 displays othering behavior towards the robot by expressing mocking laughter in response to Stretch's slow and imprecise movements while picking up a block.

responded to a participant's request with "*I can help with that*," G3P3 reacted in an exasperated manner ("*Oh gosh*"), whereas G3P1 doubted Stretch's ability to do the task ("*Can he?*").

Similarly, we observed that Stretch's imprecise and slow behavior in retrieving the block resulted in Group 3 demonstrating othering behavior towards it. When Stretch claimed, *"I found something*," and approached the object slowly before actually picking it up, G3P3 snickered and exchanged amused, incredulous glances with G3P2 (Fig. 3.1). This behavior demonstrates othering as it involves participants ridiculing the robot's perceived inadequacies, such as its imprecise movements and delayed responses, thereby reinforcing the difference between the robot and the human team members.

This was immediately followed by all three members simultaneously providing corrective instructions to the robot about its movement. Even though the team could have engaged in other tasks while Stretch proceeded to pick up the block, the team instead continued to visually monitor Stretch's movements while repeating their instructions until it finally brought the block back to the table.

The combination of P3's shared reaction to the robot and the team's micromanaging of the robot reveals their distrust of the robot's capabilities. It also reveals their belief that Stretch



Figure 3.2. Group 4 expresses othering behavior by huddling together, apart from the robot, and discussing their preference for robot behaviors.

required their instructions to achieve the pick-up task successfully.

In another instance, members of Group 4 used phrases such as "*Hey, buddy*" to refer to the robot, which suggests infantilization. This behavior not only undermines the perceived status and capabilities of the robot within the team but also reinforces a sense of otherness by emphasizing a perceived inferiority compared to human team members.

At another time when the robot offered its help after recovering from a technical failure, G4P3 responded with "*just sit there and look pretty*." G4P3's response elicited laughter from the other participants. This demonstrates the team mocking the robot's ability to contribute and its lack of importance to the team. It also suggested condescending and ostracizing behavior towards the robot.

Similarly, along the course of the task, the team gathered together to observe the robot as it attempted to pick up an object the team needed. While standing together as a group, all team members gazed at the robot as they discussed if they preferred the proactive robot over the passive robot. This exclusion of the robot was also demonstrated by non-verbal behaviors which included pointing at the robot as they discussed its behavior and laughing together. The team's behavior suggests that they regarded the robot as an out-group member.

3.1.2 Error Management

We observed that teams were more accommodating of their human teammate's mistakes than they were of the robot's mistakes.

For example, when G4P3 accidentally picked something up before they should have, G4P3's team members did not engage in accusatory behavior, and the team laughed about it.

However, when the robot took time to fetch objects and asked the team if they had found anything, G4P2 responded with "*Yes! We are just waiting on you!*" This response shows frustration with the robot's ability to support the team and describes the robot as the team's bottleneck or limiting factor.

In addition, when the robot made movements that were confusing for the team, they were misinterpreted by team members as the robot struggling to complete its task. For example, when the robot adjusted its movement to retrieve an object, G5P2 interpreted it as the robot struggling and began issuing low-level commands like "*Hey Stretch, can you go back*?"

3.1.3 Ignoring the Robot

Teams also treated the robot differently in terms of how willingly they interacted with it compared to human team members.

In Group 4, as team members searched for missing items, G4P3 wanted to confirm that Stretch had decoded the items in areas only accessible to the robot. They asked: "*Hey Stretch, did you scan this one over here,*" pointing to an encoded item. However, G4P3 repeated the question to G4P2 when they walked closer and did not wait for the robot's answer. When Stretch confirmed that it had scanned the item they responded with "*Yeah, Ok!*" followed by a snicker.

Furthermore, when strategizing to complete a task, the teams did not always integrate the robot into their plan. This suggests that they may not have considered the robot to be an integral member of the team.

For example, one task required Group 5 to find four boxes, which was explicitly stated in

the clue's instructions. One of these boxes was kept in a region that was only accessible to the robot. However, the team chose to complete this task with just the three boxes they found in the regions accessible to the human teammates. This displayed a lack of willingness to engage with the robot, even when it would have made the task easier.

While teams displayed limited interest in interacting with the passive robot, we also observed that teams ignored the suggestions provided by the proactive robot. For example, team members in Group 3 actively ignored the robot in favor of their strategy for task prioritization. As the team collectively gathered to figure out their next steps, the proactive robot supported task progression by guiding the team members toward an item that the team needed but had not yet found. However, the team completely ignored the robot's suggestion to explore the area it had located the item in and instead asked the robot to fetch a different item.

This lack of willingness to interact with and include the robot as well as actively ignoring helpful robot suggestions further exemplifies the othering of the robot, regardless of condition.

3.2 Workarounds to Interact With the Robot

Teams came up with creative workarounds to interact effectively with the robot. This included modifying their prompts, requests, and strategies to better suit their perceptions of the robot's capabilities.

3.2.1 Using Simplified Language to Match Robot Capabilities

G4P3 simplified their prompts to the robot so that the robot could respond with a yes or no 3.3. For example, G4P3 identified a region of space physically, using co-speech gestures [46]. Then, they asked the robot to confirm if it detected any items they needed in that region. This suggests that the team perceived the robot to be incapable of engaging in human-like conversation, and adapted their language to suit the perceived linguistic capabilities of the robot.

Participants therefore modified their actions and instructions to circumvent the perceived restricted capabilities of the robot.



Figure 3.3. G4P3 simplified their prompts to the robot so that it could respond with yes or no.

3.2.2 Adapting Tasks to Robot Capabilities

If the team perceived that the robot may not be able to successfully complete a task, they modified their request to the robot to better match what they thought it was capable of.

In Group 1, the robot experienced a technical malfunction in its gripper just as it was about to hand over an object to a teammate. As a result of the malfunction, the robot was unable to open its gripper and complete the handover.

The robot clarified: "*I am sorry, but I am having some technical issues right now. Please give me a moment to recover,*" and "*Sorry, I need some help. Can you please take this from me?*" However, participants in Group 1 were reluctant to take the object from the robot until the robot released the object from its gripper 3.4. Therefore, when the robot did not open its gripper, G1P3 tried to simplify the handover task by asking: "Hey Stretch, could you keep it on this table?"

This depicted a scenario in which the participants tried to think of alternate tasks to assign to the robot that were perceived to be easier for it to complete but would still accomplish the team's goal.



Figure 3.4. The robot experiences a hardware issue that prevents it from immediately handing over the object. G1P2 patiently waits for the robot to open its gripper.

In addition, when G4P3 sought the robot's help to locate the missing item, they assumed that the robot was unable to distinguish between found and missing items. They supported the robot by covering items that could "confuse" the robot.

In Group 2, the robot encountered difficulty during an attempted handover, causing the item to become wedged against a chair 3.5. The slow speed of the robot's movements exacerbated this issue and caused G2P2 to proactively intervene by extending their reach to meet the robot halfway in completing the task. In this scenario, the team resorted to a workaround solution: instead of waiting for the robot to attempt the handover again, G2P2 leaned in and grabbed the block, so that the robot only needed to release the object for the handover to be completed.

3.2.3 Accounting for Robot Speed

Participants also adapted their strategies to account for the time it would take the robot to complete different tasks.

For example, G5P1 planned the next steps of the task and incorporated robot slowness



Figure 3.5. When the robot is retrieving the item, G2P2 reaches over to take the item that is stuck. This is an example of how participants modified their actions to workaround the robot.

into the plan for future robot instructions: "Whenever he [the robot] is done with that, ask him as soon as possible [to do the next task]." This demonstrated the capability of human teammates to adapt to robot limitations while strategizing to improve their task efficiency.

3.3 Role Emergence

As the teams interacted with each other and the robot through the two escape room tasks, we saw the emergence of specific roles that participants either actively took on during the task or assigned to other team members. The main roles that emerged are robot mediator, robot manager, and group leader.

3.3.1 Robot Mediator

We observed instances where participants acted as mediators when communicating with the robot. For example, Group 2 was interacting with Stretch to get it to scan blocks with QR codes to reveal numbers. G2P1 showed the blocks to Stretch, whereas G2P2 had taken on the role of using those numbers to unlock the spill kit. When Stretch read out the number for the QR code (*"That reads 6"*), G2P1 repeated the number (*"Six"*) out loud while turning towards G2P2, so that G2P2 could enter the number on the lock. This was an interesting behavior since the whole team was gathered near Stretch, and Stretch was loud enough for all the members including G2P2 to hear what it said.

People generally engage in repetition as a way to acknowledge or confirm what was said by the other person [19]. However, in this scenario, G2P1's behavior demonstrates directed attention at G2P2 with the specific need to support G2P2 in their effort rather than acknowledge the robot.

3.3.2 Robot Manager

We observed that in a few teams, members either assumed or assigned the role of a robot manager, e.g., someone who is in charge of requesting the robot to do specific tasks [102]. This role was observed regardless of whether participants interacted with the passive or proactive robot.

For example, we observed this in Group 4 as they interacted with the proactive robot. Once the team determined that they needed to find blocks for the task, G4P1 immediately began to instruct the robot to grab a block. At the same time, Stretch proactively suggested that it could also help search for items. G4P1 acknowledged this, "*Perfect*", but still felt the need to take on the responsibility of playing the robot manager and continued their request to the robot to grab the block.

We also observed an instance of a participant explicitly being assigned the role of a

robot manager. G5P1 first suggested that G5P2 ask Stretch to fetch a vial once it had completed bringing the block to the table. Once Stretch brought back the block to the table, G5P1 addressed the team in general asking if they wanted to ask Stretch to get the medical vial ("*Do you want to ask him to go get the other one*?"). G5P2 responded to this request with "*Yeah*" and proceeded to request the robot to pick up the bottle on the table.

In both of G5P1's requests, G5P1 chose to assign the task of interacting with the robot to the other team members rather than directly asking the robot themselves. This demonstrates that G5P1 assumed the role of a task director who assigns roles and delegated the role of robot manager to one of the other team members. It is interesting as it suggests that the effort of managing the robot necessitates a separate role altogether. They pursued this option instead of picking the more time-efficient option of directly interacting with the robot themselves.

3.3.3 Leadership

In our study, leadership appeared as one person emerging as the primary communicator and task director within the team. The leader assigned tasks to teammates (including the robot), directed the flow of the task, and updated the team about task steps and status.

In one scenario, after reading the clue, G5P1 assumed on behalf of the team that they only needed to find four blocks. However, this assumption was incorrect because they were unaware that only four of eight total blocks were valid.

G5P3 confirmed that they had indeed found all the blocks without any hesitation. This scenario illustrates G5P1's leadership role as both G5P2 and G5P3 deferred to G5P1's assumption without questioning or verifying it, despite it being incorrect. Their willingness to accept G5P1's statement without verification suggests a level of reliance on G5P1's judgment.

After hearing this interaction, Stretch offered to help search for items ("*Maybe I can help? I will also search for the items.*") G5P1 explicitly refused this offer and asked Stretch to come closer to the team ("*Uh no, Stretch, come here.*") This suggests that since they had already found the four blocks, G5P1 determined on behalf of the team that they were ready to move on

to the next task.

G5P1 set their team up for progress on the next task by handing each team member a spill sock. They then directed the next step for the team to do as a whole: "*Alright, everyone has a spill sock. Let's go put that on the contamination spill.*" Similarly, G5P1 assessed their current task as done and moved towards the wall to pick up a clue. G5P2 and G5P3 did not verbally respond to G5P1, however, they both moved towards G5P1, indicating their acceptance of G5P1's leadership. G5P1 also took the initiative of assigning tasks to the robot or ensuring another teammate coordinated with the robot by making relevant requests to it.

G5P1 demonstrated their leadership in many ways in this situation. For example, they took the initiative to read the clue out loud to determine the steps to perform for the task. G5P1 also made assumptions on behalf of the team after reading the clue, and G5P2 and G5P3 supported this assumption through confirmations and agreements. G5P1's leadership influenced Stretch's actions as well. They refused Stretch's proactive offers to perform certain actions, and instead provided instructions that aligned with the team's current goals.

A leader emerged in Group 3 as well. G3P3 took the initiative to direct G3P1 and G3P2 to do specific tasks that contributed to the overall task progress. G3P3 took the lead on reading the instructions out loud and directing their teammates' attention to relevant objects through illustrators like pointing and sharing their focus of attention through gaze. This was eventually followed by G3P3 looking and pointing at individual teammates while providing specific task assignments.

Later, the team had to ask Stretch to scan barcodes to reveal numbers. G3P3 addressed their teammates - "*He* (*G3P2*) asks Stretch to read the barcode and you (*G3P1*) write on the whiteboard for every single block, and I'll look for the spill kit." G3P3 pointed to each individual, object, and the robot as G3P3 referred to each of them while holding both G3P1 and G3P2's attention.

3.4 Robot Intent and Explainability

Participant behavioral data also revealed that participants often struggled to understand the robot's intent and its capabilities. Our analysis suggested that participant's expectations of the robot were set by both verbal and nonverbal behaviors of the robot, including the motion of the camera and effectors.

3.4.1 Misleading Verbal Behavior

Participants were shocked when the robot expressed its limitations with tasks that they incorrectly assumed it could perform. For example, when G3P2 asked, "*Hey Stretch, scan this QR code,*" the barcode turned out to be invalid. In response, the robot informed them that it was unable to help. This surprised G3P3 who then responded with, "*What?*!", and tried to reinforce their instructions to Stretch by saying, "*Read the barcode.*" This indicated their disbelief that the robot was incapable of decrypting a barcode. The participants' surprise is understandable as the robot had previously announced that it could help read the barcodes. However, in this instance, it did not have the capability to explain that the current block G3P2 was holding was invalid, or why it could scan other barcodes but not this one.

3.4.2 Expectations Arising From Robot Embodiment

Furthermore, teams understood the robot's physical capabilities through its embodiment e.g., if a robot has a gripper then it should be able to grasp objects. Thus, the teams expressed surprise when the robot expressed its limitations in interacting with certain objects. For example, participants in Group 3 and Group 4 were shocked when the robot communicated that it could not grasp a vial.

This suggests that participants perceived the robot's capabilities simplistically and found it challenging to distinguish between the levels of effort required when interacting with objects of different shapes, textures, and weights.

3.4.3 Directional and Social Cues

The robot's body motion was also used by team members to clarify the robot's intent and generate directional cues. For example, G4P3 asked *"Hey Stretch, look at me"* indicating that participants considered face-to-face interaction with the robot to represent the robot's attention to the participants.

Similarly, G4P3 asked *"Hey Stretch, can you face where the safety box is?"* and wanted to use the robot's physical orientation as a way to "point" toward the items of interest.

Furthermore, the lack of directional cues and clarity regarding the robot's focus of attention also confused participants. While the robot was scanning an item placed on the cabinet, G5P2 asked it to scan an item they were holding in their hand. Consequently, when the robot announced the number of items scanned, G5P2 had difficulty determining which item had been scanned. If the robot was designed differently to better convey social information via its embodiment, movement, and gaze cues, that may have helped participants avoid this confusion.

This was further exemplified by participants' confusion regarding the robot's listening behavior. If a participant initiated a request, they expected the robot to display some cue to represent it was listening. For example, G5P2 kept repeating "*Hey, Stretch*" waiting for some response or cue from the robot. G5P1 then clarified "*I think once you say 'Hey, Stretch' it just listens, right?*" This suggests that individuals may need appropriate social cues or backchanneling to represent the robot's listening state.

Similarly, G1P2 interpreted a delay of 3 seconds in the robot's response to their request as a technical failure. This suggests that participants expected immediate feedback from the robot with either an appropriate response, an acknowledgment of the request made, or a social cue. They therefore interpreted an absence of feedback as an error.

Chapter 4

Discussion

Our results reveal that there are many factors that need to be better understood in order to integrate robots as effective teammates in human-robot action teams. These factors include error tolerance in high-stakes environments, managing expectations arising from the robot's physical embodiment, individual adaptation to robot capabilities, role emergence, and mitigating outgroup perception through robot social skills.

4.1 Error Tolerance in High Stakes Environments

In our study, certain robot behaviors such as the robot's speed and its position adjustment when interacting with objects were perceived as errors and robot ineffectiveness. This was because the robot performed the task in a way that was different from what participants expected.

This often resulted in people becoming frustrated or more closely supervising the robot. It is possible that people were less tolerant of the robot's perceived inefficiencies because they were accomplishing tasks in a timed manner and the team's success was at stake. In high-stakes environments, such as emergency departments and firefighting scenarios, where there are time constraints and high urgency of tasks, the tolerance for robot errors may be further reduced due to the dire consequences of failure.

While some studies have highlighted the perception of robots as essential team members in contexts like the military and bomb defusing, these dynamics were not explored in the context of perceived robot errors [109]. This raises questions about how perceived robot errors would affect human-robot relationships, and the robot's membership in the team in a high-stakes environment.

Framing robot expectations in advance can also help improve human perceptions of the robot [127]. The robot can set expectations about its performance for a certain task in real time to prepare people for what the robot's actions and behaviors may be like. For example, if the robot prefaces its actions with a statement like, "*Small objects are difficult for me to pick up, so I may need to move slowly or adjust my position to fetch the object,*" it sets clear expectations. Then, participants would understand that the robot is being cautious rather than failing.

Similarly, another study [131] indicated that an emotional apology positively affected more participants than no response, a standard apology about poor performance, or an explanation. Furthermore, this study identified emotional apology as the most effective method for timesensitive scenarios. In the escape room, although the robot did not make any actual errors, the slowness could be perceived as an error especially since the tasks were timed. It is possible that an emotional apology could improve participants' perceptions of the robot and its limitations even though the robot may not be able to change its maximum speed due to safety constraints.

Thus, expectation framing and repair strategies such as emotional apologies might allow participants to be more tolerant of the perceived ineffectiveness of the robot.

4.2 Managing Expectations Arising from the Robot's Physical Embodiment

Our analysis suggested that participant expectations and perceptions of the robot were set by not just verbal behaviors, but also non-verbal behaviors and embodiment of the robot. This included the motion of certain robot sensors and effectors. However, the physical embodiment can also lead to confusion about the robot's capabilities. This explains why participants were shocked when the robot said that it could not pick up an object, as this was a violation of the participants' expectations.

On the other hand, if the robot did not have a gripper at all and said that it could not pick up an object, participants would most likely see the obvious limitation and not be surprised by it. For example, Stretch had a gripper that it used during the study to fetch different items. The participants interacting with the robot might assume that the robot can pick up most objects using the gripper. However, the design of the robot's manipulator (e.g., arm, wrist, gripper) may impose certain limitations on the robot's ability to interact with certain objects. Factors such as the shape, size, texture, and weight of an object would influence the ability of the robot to pick up the object. These limitations may not be easy to perceive from the physical embodiment of the robot alone.

Similarly, the camera and face-to-face interaction supported intentionality. When G4P3 asked Stretch, *"look at me,"* the robot rotated so that the tablet (which displayed the face) was directly facing them. G4P3 gave the robot further instructions only after it had completed its movement. This spatial orientation and face-to-face communication were associated with attention and listening. In addition, participants tried to figure out which items were being scanned by looking at the direction of the camera but were still unsure. Therefore if the robot has multiple cameras this intentionality can become vague. This suggests that there is a need to consider how different sensors may indirectly communicate intentionality or lead to confusion.

This demonstrates that physical embodiments alone do not convey sufficient information and can lead to violation of expectations.

4.2.1 Need For Explainability

In the study, if the robot was unable to support the team it simply responded with "*I am sorry, I am unable to help with that.*" It did not provide any explanation as to why. For example, it could clarify if the object was too small to be easily picked up or if the location of the object was difficult to navigate to. This may have left the participants to wonder why the robot was refusing to help especially when it seemed capable of it.

One way to manage participants' expectations of the robot would be to have the robot provide more explanations about its capabilities and limitations (e.g., the task might not be necessary, the task is too difficult). Studies have found that robots should give sufficient explanations of their behaviors and failures, and provide concise summaries [45,72].

It would be worth exploring creative ways for a robot to generate interactional cues to convey intent, direction, and communication of ability or inability to improve participants' understanding of its functionality.

4.3 Adaptation

During the escape rooms, we observed that people started adapting to the robot's capabilities. People found alternative ways to interact with the robot, including simplifying instructions. In particular, they used the robot's physical embodiment and adapted their instructions to the robot's perceived limitations to accomplish the necessary tasks.

For example, G4P3 first asks the robot if it knows where another item is. However, they are confused when the robot asks that they look in the direction of its camera. G4P3 clarifies, "*are there any [items] on this side of the room that you see*," indicating the area with arm movement. They further ask, "*are there any [items] underneath something*?" This raises questions about how physical embodiments such as a robot's sensors, chassis, or effectors should be positioned to clearly express attention and direction.

Although participants were able to navigate the limitations of the robot's behavior, the necessity for these workarounds indicates a breakdown in interaction. If the robot can provide relevant explanations and display cues, people can adapt their mental models of the robot and their subsequent interaction with the robot leading to more fluent interactions.

In an ideal scenario, a robot's behavior is explicit and communicative. However, interactions are dynamic, and improving them would require the robot to learn from human preferences and participants' understanding of the robot's capabilities. Specifically, observing a human's workarounds to the robot could unveil hidden human preferences and also guide the design of robot explanations.

4.3.1 Role Emergence

Distinct roles such as that of a mediator or manager emerged due to team members needing to support each other.

For example, the role of the robot mediator may arise from a lack of trust or reliance on the robot, prompting team members to support each other when the robot's responses are insufficient. Additionally, the role of the manager emerged as a necessity for managing perceived errors and navigating around the limitations of the robot, highlighting the importance of adaptive strategies in maintaining team efficiency and cohesion.

Improving the robot's capabilities to reduce the need for these roles can enhance overall team efficiency and effectiveness. However, certain roles may naturally emerge in human-robot interactions, especially in complex or high-stakes environments. Therefore, it may be beneficial to anticipate these roles and design systems that support and complement them.

Furthermore, the emergence of leaders in human-robot teams parallels a natural outcome in human-human groups as well, as there is a need for organizational structures to facilitate smooth collaboration. One study found that effective leadership of diverse teams requires proactive as well as reactive attention to teams' needs and adequate management of these processes through task- and person-focused leadership [50]. Since the escape room was a time-constrained task, the leaders that emerged tried to establish clear team communication, task coordination, and strategy to achieve team goals. They also considered what the robot should be doing and when based on task needs and perceived robot capabilities.

Such role emergence in human-robot action teams seems to arise in response to the team's perceived capabilities of the robot and the resulting need for greater human intervention and coordination.

4.3.2 Mitigating Outgroup Perception

In our study, we consistently observed othering of the robot across the majority of teams in both conditions.

We anticipated that the robot might be treated as an outgroup member because prior work suggests that having a robot on the work team can have a negative impact on in-group identification [95,101]. In our study, we tried to mitigate this effect by encouraging task interdependence between participants and the robot (certain tasks required abilities that only the robot had). Before the start of the escape rooms, we also emphasized to participants that the robot should be treated as another member of the team.

Despite these efforts to promote ingroup behavior and emphasize the robot's inclusion as a team member, participants still exhibited outgroup perceptions towards the robot. This indicates that additional factors may have influenced their perceptions such as their interaction experience or stronger reliance on human teammates than the robot.

4.3.3 Need for Social Skills

Due to our Wizard of Oz protocol, the robot's dialogue was strictly constrained to functional communication (e.g., "Yes, I can help with that", "Maybe I can help? I will also search for the items.") and general responses (e.g., "Yes," "No," "Yes, I agree"). The robot's behavior did not include any nonverbal social cues such as head movement, gaze direction, or turn-taking. The robot's lack of social skills may have contributed to negative perceptions of errors and slowness in dynamic situations.

This indicates that even among highly task-focused teams, there remains a necessity for some degree of social skills to mitigate negative perceptions of the robot.

By incorporating more social cues and signals, such as affective speech and non-verbal cues, robots have the potential to mitigate negative perceptions and enhance their integration within highly functioning teams. This is in line with previous work which has shown that social

signals can improve human-robot interactions [3,85,90,113].

One study suggests that robots expressing group-based emotions based on team outcomes, rather than individual outcomes, were better liked and trusted by team members [111]. This highlights the role of emotional expression in fostering positive human-robot interactions as well as robot acceptance.

Other work has found that a robot's gaze [22], statements of team appreciation [130], encouraging speech [114], and positive attitude [29] all play a role in improving the robot's acceptance. At the end of the escape room, when G4P3 asks Stretch if it can high-five, Stretch responds, *"I'm sorry, I am unable to help with that.*" G4P3's affectionate *"aww"* suggests they found the robot's response endearing. This indicates that participants would have interacted with the robot as a social agent if given the opportunity. Dialogue that expresses appreciation of team members such as "Great job, team!" could help robot acceptance.

This is especially important for the social integration of a robot as a team member. However, this must be designed carefully, as action teams work in high-stakes professional environments where humor may not always be welcomed at all times.

4.4 Implications for HRI

The purpose of this study was to explore these two questions: 1) How do action team characteristics affect how team members interact with and respond to a robot?, and 2) How do a robot's actions influence intra-team dynamics? To this end, we studied how participants collaborated with a robot to complete two escape rooms. Our findings have several implications for the HRI community.

Firstly, we emphasize the importance of considering both the functional and social aspects of a robot's role in fostering acceptance within human-robot teams. These social skills include verbal and nonverbal communication, such as positive speech, to express team encouragement, as well as nodding or eye contact for active engagement. Future work could include exploring how these social skills (speech and nonverbal cues) can be implemented to support the addition and inclusion of a robot as a social agent.

Secondly, our work highlights adaptive behaviors exhibited by participants in action teams to accommodate the robot's capabilities or perceived limitations. Some of these behaviors included the emergence of different roles. Therefore, robots may need to understand the roles of different team members to effectively support them. By recognizing and responding to the diverse roles within a team, robots can enhance collaboration and productivity in various collaborative settings. One question worth exploring is how a robot could do this autonomously, especially when taking into account the nuanced dynamics of human-robot collaboration in high-stakes environments.

Additionally, the limited interaction time between participants and the robot in our study may not have allowed participants to bond with the robot enough to be more tolerant of the robot's limitations. Although the overall study length was quite long, the limited interaction time can be remedied by conducting a single study session of longer length rather than two 20-minute sessions. This allows for uninterrupted time for the participants to bond with the robot.

Furthermore, while our study focuses on the role of the robot within teams, it is essential to acknowledge the significance of human-human interactions. The ad hoc nature of team formation in our experiments may have influenced the dynamics observed, warranting further examination of how team composition affects collaboration. Understanding the process of group formation and maintenance, as well as its evolution over the course of the tasks and across the rooms, would provide valuable insights for reflecting on the robot's influence within the team.

Lastly, we explore the impact of a robot's physical embodiment on shaping users' expectations of its capabilities. This includes how a robot's camera, arm, or even base movement can influence teammates' perceptions of its functionality and competence within collaborative tasks. Understanding these aspects provides insights into designing robots that not only meet functional requirements but also align with users' social expectations.

It is important for the HRI community to consider these findings to better design the

robots to facilitate seamless integration within human teams in various real-world settings.

Bibliography

- P.-E. Aguera, K. Jerbi, A. Caclin, and O. Bertrand, "Elan: a software package for analysis and visualization of meg, eeg, and lfp signals," *Computational intelligence and neuroscience*, vol. 2011, pp. 1–11, 2011.
- [2] V. Ahumada-Newhart, H. J. Kashyap, T. Hwu, Y. Tian, L. Mirzakhanian, M. Minton, S. Seader, S. Hedden, D. Moore, J. L. Krichmar, and J. S. Eccles, "Evaluation of the toyota human support robot (hsr) for social interaction and learning," *International journal of technology, knowledge and society*, vol. 19, no. 1, p. 21, 2023.
- [3] S. A. Akgun, M. Ghafurian, M. Crowley, and K. Dautenhahn, "Integrating affective expressions into the search and rescue context in order to improve non-verbal human-robot interaction," 2021.
- [4] A. Alam, "Social robots in education for long-term human-robot interaction: socially supportive behaviour of robotic tutor for creating robo-tangible learning environment in a guided discovery learning interaction," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 107, no. 1, p. 12389, 2022.
- [5] J. Baraglia, M. Cakmak, Y. Nagai, R. P. Rao, and M. Asada, "Efficient human-robot collaboration: when should a robot take initiative?" *The International Journal of Robotics Research*, vol. 36, no. 5-7, pp. 563–579, 2017.
- [6] L. E. Benishek and E. H. Lazzara, "Teams in a new era: Some considerations and implications," *Frontiers in psychology*, vol. 10, p. 1006, 2019.
- [7] S. Betti, U. Castiello, S. Guerra, U. Granziol, G. Zani, and L. Sartori, "Gaze and body cues interplay during interactive requests," *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 10, p. e0223591, 2019.
- [8] A. M. Birkestam, C. Öster, and E. Arakelian, "An observational study of ad-hoc anaesthesia teams," *Journal of perioperative practice*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 102–106, 2020.
- [9] T. Bisbey and E. Salas, "Team dynamics and processes in the workplace," in *Oxford research encyclopedia of psychology*, 2019.
- [10] R. Bogue, "The role of robots in firefighting," *Industrial Robot: the international journal of robotics research and application*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 174–178, 2021.
- [11] A. Bonarini, "Communication in human-robot interaction," *Current Robotics Reports*, vol. 1, pp. 279–285, 2020.

- [12] V. Braun and V. Clarke, "Using thematic analysis in psychology," *Qualitative research in psychology*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 77–101, 2006.
- [13] —, "One size fits all? what counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis?" *Qualitative research in psychology*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 328–352, 2021.
- [14] L. L. Brons, "Othering, an analysis," 2015.
- [15] K. Catchpole, A. Mishra, A. Handa, and P. McCulloch, "Teamwork and error in the operating room: analysis of skills and roles," *Annals of surgery*, vol. 247, no. 4, pp. 699–706, 2008.
- [16] A. Chacón, P. Ponsa, and C. Angulo, "Cognitive interaction analysis in human-robot collaboration using an assembly task," *Electronics*, vol. 10, no. 11, p. 1317, 2021.
- [17] B. J. Choi, J. Park, and C. H. Park, "Formal verification for human-robot interaction in medical environments," in *Companion of the 2021 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2021, pp. 181–185.
- [18] C. Clabaugh and M. Matarić, "Escaping oz: Autonomy in socially assistive robotics," *Annual Review of Control, Robotics, and Autonomous Systems*, vol. 2, pp. 33–61, 2019.
- [19] H. H. Clark and S. E. Brennan, "Grounding in communication." 1991.
- [20] L. Cobianchi, F. Dal Mas, M. Massaro, P. Fugazzola, F. Coccolini, Y. Kluger, A. Leppäniemi, E. E. Moore, M. Sartelli, P. Angelos, F. Catena, L. Ansaloni, and the Team Dynamics Study Group, "Team dynamics in emergency surgery teams: results from a first international survey," *World Journal of Emergency Surgery*, vol. 16, pp. 1–13, 2021.
- [21] T. N. Cohen, A. C. Griggs, J. R. Keebler, E. H. Lazzara, S. M. Doherty, F. F. Kanji, and B. L. Gewertz, "Using escape rooms for conducting team research: understanding development, considerations, and challenges," *Simulation & Gaming*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 443–460, 2020.
- [22] F. Correia, J. Campos, F. S. Melo, and A. Paiva, "Robotic gaze responsiveness in multiparty teamwork," *International Journal of Social Robotics*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 27–36, 2023.
- [23] H. Daoudy and M. Verstraeten, "Team dynamics and the marshmallow challenge: studying team performance and personal satisfaction with a focus on verbal interactions," *Working Papers CEB*, vol. 13, 2013.
- [24] J. De Greeff, T. Mioch, W. Van Vught, K. Hindriks, M. A. Neerincx, and I. Kruijff-Korbayová, "Persistent robot-assisted disaster response," in *Companion of the 2018* ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction, 2018, pp. 99–100.
- [25] J. De Greeff, N. Smets, K. Hindriks, M. A. Neerincx, and I. Kruijff-Korbayová, "Incremental development of large-scale human-robot teamwork in disaster response environments," in *Proceedings of the Companion of the 2017 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2017, pp. 101–102.

- [26] V. De Simone, V. Di Pasquale, V. Giubileo, and S. Miranda, "Human-robot collaboration: An analysis of worker's performance," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 200, pp. 1540– 1549, 2022.
- [27] M. Demir, N. J. McNeese, and N. J. Cooke, "Understanding human-robot teams in light of all-human teams: Aspects of team interaction and shared cognition," *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, vol. 140, p. 102436, 2020.
- [28] J. Dusdal and J. J. Powell, "Benefits, motivations, and challenges of international collaborative research: a sociology of science case study," *Science and Public Policy*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 235–245, 2021.
- [29] C. Esterwood and L. P. Robert, "Having the right attitude: How attitude impacts trust repair in human—robot interaction," in 2022 17th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI). IEEE, 2022, pp. 332–341.
- [30] —, "A literature review of trust repair in hri," in 2022 31st IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2022, pp. 1641–1646.
- [31] A. Ezenyilimba, M. Wong, A. Hehr, M. Demir, A. Wolff, E. Chiou, and N. Cooke, "Impact of transparency and explanations on trust and situation awareness in human–robot teams," *Journal of cognitive engineering and decision making*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 75–93, 2023.
- [32] M. R. Fraune, "Our robots, our team: Robot anthropomorphism moderates group effects in human–robot teams," *Frontiers in psychology*, vol. 11, p. 1275, 2020.
- [33] M. R. Fraune, S. Šabanović, and E. R. Smith, "Teammates first: Favoring ingroup robots over outgroup humans," in 2017 26th IEEE international symposium on robot and human interactive communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2017, pp. 1432–1437.
- [34] M. R. Fraune, S. Sherrin, S. Šabanović, and E. R. Smith, "Is human-robot interaction more competitive between groups than between individuals?" in 2019 14th acm/ieee international conference on human-robot interaction (hri). IEEE, 2019, pp. 104–113.
- [35] L. S. Fruhen and N. Keith, "Team cohesion and error culture in risky work environments," *Safety Science*, vol. 65, pp. 20–27, 2014.
- [36] D. Y. Geiskkovitch, D. J. Rea, A. Y. Seo, S. H. Seo, B. Postnikoff, and J. E. Young, "Where should i sit? exploring the impact of seating arrangement in a human-robot collaborative task," in *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction*, 2020, pp. 41–49.
- [37] M. J. Gelfand, M. Frese, and E. Salamon, "Cultural influences on error prevention, detection, and management," *Errors in organizations*, vol. 273315, 2011.

- [38] P. Ghosh, A. Haripriyan, A. Chow, S. Redfield, and L. D. Riek, "Envisioning mobile telemanipulator robots for long covid," *Companion of the 2024 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2024.
- [39] S. Gillet, M. Vázquez, S. Andrist, I. Leite, and S. Sebo, "Interaction-shaping robotics: Robots that influence interactions between other agents," ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction, 2024.
- [40] M. J. Gonzales and L. D. Riek, "A sociable robotic aide for medication adherence," in Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments, 2012, pp. 1–4.
- [41] J. C. Gorman, N. J. Cooke, and J. L. Winner, "Measuring team situation awareness in decentralized command and control environments," in *Situational Awareness*. Routledge, 2017, pp. 183–196.
- [42] R. A. Greenwood and B. Gong, "Team performance study: Determining the factors that influence high performance in teams," *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 8–14, 2010.
- [43] A. C. Griggs, E. H. Lazzara, S. M. Doherty, J. R. Keebler, B. L. Gewertz, and T. N. Cohen, "Unlocking the methodology of escape rooms: Considerations for conducting applied escape rooms in research," *Simulation & Gaming*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 663–675, 2022.
- [44] L. Habib, M.-P. Pacaux-Lemoine, and P. Millot, "Human-robots team cooperation in crisis management mission," in 2018 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC). IEEE, 2018, pp. 3219–3224.
- [45] Z. Han, E. Phillips, and H. A. Yanco, "The need for verbal robot explanations and how people would like a robot to explain itself," *ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction (THRI)*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 1–42, 2021.
- [46] C. J. Hayes, C. R. Crowell, and L. D. Riek, "Automatic processing of irrelevant cospeech gestures with human but not robot actors," in 2013 8th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI). IEEE, 2013, pp. 333–340.
- [47] P. Hayes, "The impact of team member familiarity on performance: ad hoc and pre-formed emergency service teams," in *Human Factors Challenges in Emergency Management*. CRC Press, 2017, pp. 97–124.
- [48] G. Hoffman, "Evaluating fluency in human–robot collaboration," *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 209–218, 2019.
- [49] R. M. Hogarth and H. J. Einhorn, "Order effects in belief updating: The belief-adjustment model," *Cognitive psychology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1–55, 1992.

- [50] A. C. Homan, S. Gündemir, C. Buengeler, and G. A. van Kleef, "Leading diversity: Towards a theory of functional leadership in diverse teams." *Journal of Applied Psychology*, vol. 105, no. 10, p. 1101, 2020.
- [51] S. Honig and T. Oron-Gilad, "Understanding and resolving failures in human-robot interaction: Literature review and model development," *Frontiers in psychology*, vol. 9, p. 861, 2018.
- [52] T. Iqbal, M. J. Gonzales, and L. D. Riek, "Joint action perception to enable fluent humanrobot teamwork," in 2015 24th IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2015, pp. 400–406.
- [53] T. Iqbal and L. D. Riek, "Coordination dynamics in multihuman multirobot teams," *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 1712–1717, 2017.
- [54] O. Iroju, O. A. Ojerinde, and R. Ikono, "State of the art: a study of human-robot interaction in healthcare," 2017.
- [55] R. Jamshad, A. Haripriyan, A. Sonti, S. Simkins, and L. Riek, "Taking initiative in human-robot action teams: How proactive robot behaviors affect teamwork," *in review*, 2024.
- [56] R. Jamshad, A. Haripriyan, A. Sonti, S. Simkins, and L. D. Riek, "Taking initiative in human-robot action teams: How proactive robot behaviors affect teamwork," *Companion* of the 2024 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction, p. 559–562, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1145/3610978.3640640
- [57] S. A. Jessup, A. Gibson, A. A. Capiola, G. M. Alarcon, and M. Borders, "Investigating the effect of trust manipulations on affect over time in human-human versus human-robot interactions." in *HICSS*, 2020, pp. 1–10.
- [58] C. J. Johnson, C. S. Lieber, R. S. Gutzwiller, and N. J. Cooke, "Team workload in action teams: Exploring the impact of interdependence," in *Proceedings of the Human Factors* and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, vol. 67, no. 1. SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA, 2023, pp. 1127–1133.
- [59] M. F. Jung, D. DiFranzo, S. Shen, B. Stoll, H. Claure, and A. Lawrence, "Robot-assisted tower construction—a method to study the impact of a robot's allocation behavior on interpersonal dynamics and collaboration in groups," ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction (THRI), vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–23, 2020.
- [60] N. L. Keiser and W. Arthur Jr, "A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of the after-action review (or debrief) and factors that influence its effectiveness." *Journal of Applied Psychology*, vol. 106, no. 7, p. 1007, 2021.
- [61] C. C. Kemp, A. Edsinger, H. M. Clever, and B. Matulevich, "The design of stretch: A compact, lightweight mobile manipulator for indoor human environments," in 2022

International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA). IEEE, 2022, pp. 3150–3157.

- [62] A. Klamar, D. Horvath, N. Keith, and M. Frese, "Inducing error management culture– evidence from experimental team studies," *Frontiers in Psychology*, vol. 12, p. 716915, 2022.
- [63] M. Kolbe and M. Boos, "Laborious but elaborate: The benefits of really studying team dynamics," *Frontiers in psychology*, p. 1478, 2019.
- [64] M. Koller, A. Weiss, M. Hirschmanner, and M. Vincze, "Robotic gaze and human views: A systematic exploration of robotic gaze aversion and its effects on human behaviors and attitudes," *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, vol. 10, p. 1062714, 2023.
- [65] M. Koller, A. Weiss, and M. Vincze, "I see what you did there: Towards a gaze mechanism for joint actions in human-robot interaction," *Trust in Robots*, p. 149, 2022.
- [66] M. Kraus, N. Wagner, N. Untereiner, and W. Minker, "Including social expectations for trustworthy proactive human-robot dialogue," in *Proceedings of the 30th ACM Conference* on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization, 2022, pp. 23–33.
- [67] A. Kshirsagar, M. Lim, S. Christian, and G. Hoffman, "Robot gaze behaviors in humanto-robot handovers," *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 6552–6558, 2020.
- [68] A. Kubota, D. Cruz-Sandoval, S. Kim, E. W. Twamley, and L. D. Riek, "Cognitively assistive robots at home: Hri design patterns for translational science," in 2022 17th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI). IEEE, 2022, pp. 53–62.
- [69] A. Kubota and L. D. Riek, "Methods for robot behavior adaptation for cognitive neurorehabilitation," *Annual review of control, robotics, and autonomous systems*, vol. 5, pp. 109–135, 2022.
- [70] M. Kyrarini, F. Lygerakis, A. Rajavenkatanarayanan, C. Sevastopoulos, H. R. Nambiappan, K. K. Chaitanya, A. R. Babu, J. Mathew, and F. Makedon, "A survey of robots in healthcare," *Technologies*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 8, 2021.
- [71] M. Laal and S. M. Ghodsi, "Benefits of collaborative learning," *Procedia-social and behavioral sciences*, vol. 31, pp. 486–490, 2012.
- [72] G. LeMasurier, A. Gautam, Z. Han, J. Crandall, and H. Yanco, "Reactive or proactive? how robots should explain failures," in 2024 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), 2024.
- [73] F. Levillain, D. St-Onge, G. Beltrame, and E. Zibetti, "Towards situational awareness from robotic group motion," in 2019 28th IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2019, pp. 1–6.

- [74] L. Liu, Y. Liu, and X.-Z. Gao, "Impacts of human robot proxemics on human concentration-training games with humanoid robots," in *Healthcare*, vol. 9, no. 7. MDPI, 2021, p. 894.
- [75] S. L. Lopes, J. B. Rocha, A. I. Ferreira, and R. Prada, "Social robots as leaders: leadership styles in human-robot teams," in 2021 30th IEEE International Conference on Robot & Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2021, pp. 258–263.
- [76] E. A. Lozano, C. E. Sánchez-Torres, I. H. López-Nava, and J. Favela, "An open framework for nonverbal communication in human-robot interaction," in *International Conference* on Ubiquitous Computing and Ambient Intelligence. Springer, 2023, pp. 21–32.
- [77] S. Matsumoto, P. Ghosh, R. Jamshad, and L. D. Riek, "Robot, uninterrupted: Telemedical robots to mitigate care disruption," in *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2023, pp. 495–505.
- [78] N. McDonald, S. Schoenebeck, and A. Forte, "Reliability and inter-rater reliability in qualitative research: Norms and guidelines for cscw and hci practice," *Proceedings of the ACM on human-computer interaction*, vol. 3, no. CSCW, pp. 1–23, 2019.
- [79] N. Meslec, J. Duel, and J. Soeters, "The role of teamwork on team performance in extreme military environments: an empirical study," *Team Performance Management: An International Journal*, vol. 26, no. 5/6, pp. 325–339, 2020.
- [80] B. Nesset, D. A. Robb, J. Lopes, and H. Hastie, "Transparency in hri: Trust and decision making in the face of robot errors," in *Companion of the 2021 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2021, pp. 313–317.
- [81] A. A. Niler, J. R. Mesmer-Magnus, L. E. Larson, G. Plummer, L. A. DeChurch, and N. S. Contractor, "Conditioning team cognition: A meta-analysis," *Organizational Psychology Review*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 144–174, 2021.
- [82] M. C. Noort, T. W. Reader, and A. Gillespie, "Speaking up to prevent harm: A systematic review of the safety voice literature," *Safety Science*, vol. 117, pp. 375–387, 2019.
- [83] T. Obo and K. Takizawa, "Analysis of timing and effect of visual cue on turn-taking in human-robot interaction," *Journal of Robotics and Mechatronics*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 55–63, 2022.
- [84] V. Ortenzi, A. Cosgun, T. Pardi, W. P. Chan, E. Croft, and D. Kulić, "Object handovers: a review for robotics," *IEEE Transactions on Robotics*, vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 1855–1873, 2021.
- [85] L. Parenti, M. Belkaid, and A. Wykowska, "Differences in social expectations about robot signals and human signals," *Cognitive Science*, vol. 47, no. 12, p. e13393, 2023.
- [86] R. Perkins, Z. R. Khavas, and P. Robinette, "Trust calibration and trust respect: A method for building team cohesion in human robot teams," *arXiv preprint arXiv:2110.06809*, 2021.

- [87] B. Petrak, J. G. Stapels, K. Weitz, F. Eyssel, and E. André, "To move or not to move? social acceptability of robot proxemics behavior depending on user emotion," in 2021 30th IEEE International Conference on Robot & Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2021, pp. 975–982.
- [88] L. Psarakis, D. Nathanael, and N. Marmaras, "Fostering short-term human anticipatory behavior in human-robot collaboration," *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, vol. 87, p. 103241, 2022.
- [89] M. Raković, N. F. Duarte, J. Marques, A. Billard, and J. Santos-Victor, "The gaze dialogue model: Nonverbal communication in hhi and hri," *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, 2022.
- [90] P. Ramaraj, A. Hairpriyan, R. Jamshad, and L. D. Riek, "Analysis of social signals in human-robot action teams," in *HRI 2024 Workshop on Social Signals for HRI (SS4HRI)*, 2024.
- [91] S. S. Ramoji and V. Singh, "Conceptual framework to study team cohesion in human-robot teams," *Proceedings of the Design Society*, vol. 3, pp. 1057–1066, 2023.
- [92] P. W. Richards, "The unofficial guide to open broadcaster software," 2021.
- [93] L. D. Riek, "Wizard of oz studies in hri: a systematic review and new reporting guidelines," *Journal of Human-Robot Interaction*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 119–136, 2012.
- [94] —, "Healthcare robotics," *Communications of the ACM*, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 68–78, 2017.
- [95] A. Rosenthal-von der Pütten and A. M. Abrams, "Social dynamics in human-robot groups-possible consequences of unequal adaptation to group members through machine learning in human-robot groups," in Artificial Intelligence in HCI: First International Conference, AI-HCI 2020, Held as Part of the 22nd HCI International Conference, HCII 2020, Copenhagen, Denmark, July 19–24, 2020, Proceedings 22. Springer, 2020, pp. 396–411.
- [96] S. A. Rusticus and B. J. Justus, "Comparing student-and teacher-formed teams on group dynamics, satisfaction, and performance," *Small Group Research*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 443–457, 2019.
- [97] E. Salas, R. Rico, and J. Passmore, "The psychology of teamwork and collaborative processes," *The Wiley Blackwell handbook of the psychology of team working and collaborative processes*, pp. 1–11, 2017.
- [98] E. E. Salas and S. M. Fiore, *Team cognition: Understanding the factors that drive process and performance.* American Psychological Association, 2004.
- [99] S. B. P. Samarakoon, M. V. J. Muthugala, and A. B. P. Jayasekara, "A review on human-robot proxemics," *Electronics*, vol. 11, no. 16, p. 2490, 2022.

- [100] S. Sarker, L. Jamal, S. F. Ahmed, and N. Irtisam, "Robotics and artificial intelligence in healthcare during covid-19 pandemic: A systematic review," *Robotics and autonomous systems*, vol. 146, p. 103902, 2021.
- [101] N. Savela, M. Kaakinen, N. Ellonen, and A. Oksanen, "Sharing a work team with robots: The negative effect of robot co-workers on in-group identification with the work team," *Computers in human behavior*, vol. 115, p. 106585, 2021.
- [102] J. Scholtz, "Theory and evaluation of human robot interactions," in 36th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2003. Proceedings of the. IEEE, 2003, pp. 10-pp.
- [103] S. Sebo, L. L. Dong, N. Chang, M. Lewkowicz, M. Schutzman, and B. Scassellati, "The influence of robot verbal support on human team members: Encouraging outgroup contributions and suppressing ingroup supportive behavior," *Frontiers in Psychology*, p. 3584, 2020.
- [104] A.-N. Sharkawy, "Human-robot interaction: Applications," *arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.00928*, 2021.
- [105] M. She and Z. Li, "Team situation awareness: A review of definitions and conceptual models," in *Engineering Psychology and Cognitive Ergonomics: Performance, Emotion and Situation Awareness: 14th International Conference, EPCE 2017, Held as Part of HCI International 2017, Vancouver, BC, Canada, July 9-14, 2017, Proceedings, Part I 14.* Springer, 2017, pp. 406–415.
- [106] Z. Shen, A. Elibol, and N. Y. Chong, "Nonverbal behavior cue for recognizing human personality traits in human-robot social interaction," in 2019 IEEE 4th International Conference on Advanced Robotics and Mechatronics (ICARM). IEEE, 2019, pp. 402– 407.
- [107] M. Shiomi, T. Kanda, H. Ishiguro, and N. Hagita, "A larger audience, please!—encouraging people to listen to a guide robot," in 2010 5th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI). IEEE, 2010, pp. 31–38.
- [108] E. Short and M. J. Mataric, "Robot moderation of a collaborative game: Towards socially assistive robotics in group interactions," in 2017 26th IEEE International Symposium on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2017, pp. 385–390.
- [109] P. Singer, "Robots at war," Wilson Quarterly, pp. 30-48, 2008.
- [110] G. Skantze, M. Johansson, and J. Beskow, "Exploring turn-taking cues in multi-party human-robot discussions about objects," in *Proceedings of the 2015 ACM on international conference on multimodal interaction*, 2015, pp. 67–74.
- [111] E. R. Smith, S. Šabanović, and M. R. Fraune, "Human-robot interaction through the lens of social psychological theories of intergroup behavior," 2021.

- [112] S. Stange and S. Kopp, "Effects of a social robot's self-explanations on how humans understand and evaluate its behavior," in *Proceedings of the 2020 ACM/IEEE international conference on human-robot interaction*, 2020, pp. 619–627.
- [113] M. Stiber, R. H. Taylor, and C.-M. Huang, "On using social signals to enable flexible error-aware hri," in *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2023, pp. 222–230.
- [114] S. Strohkorb Sebo, L. L. Dong, N. Chang, and B. Scassellati, "Strategies for the inclusion of human members within human-robot teams," in *Proceedings of the 2020 ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction*, 2020, pp. 309–317.
- [115] H. Surmann, D. Slomma, R. Grafe, and S. Grobelny, "Deployment of aerial robots during the flood disaster in erftstadt/blessem in july 2021," in 2022 8th International Conference on Automation, Robotics and Applications (ICARA). IEEE, 2022, pp. 97–102.
- [116] A. Taylor, D. M. Chan, and L. D. Riek, "Robot-centric perception of human groups," *ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction (THRI)*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1–21, 2020.
- [117] A. Taylor, H. R. Lee, A. Kubota, and L. D. Riek, "Coordinating clinical teams: Using robots to empower nurses to stop the line," *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, vol. 3, no. CSCW, pp. 1–30, 2019.
- [118] G. Tokadlı and M. C. Dorneich, "Interaction paradigms: From human-human teaming to human-autonomy teaming," in 2019 IEEE/AIAA 38th Digital Avionics Systems Conference (DASC). IEEE, 2019, pp. 1–8.
- [119] S. Tolmeijer, A. Weiss, M. Hanheide, F. Lindner, T. M. Powers, C. Dixon, and M. L. Tielman, "Taxonomy of trust-relevant failures and mitigation strategies," in *Proceedings of the 2020 acm/ieee international conference on human-robot interaction*, 2020, pp. 3–12.
- [120] M. L. Traeger, S. Strohkorb Sebo, M. Jung, B. Scassellati, and N. A. Christakis, "Vulnerable robots positively shape human conversational dynamics in a human–robot team," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 117, no. 12, pp. 6370–6375, 2020.
- [121] A. M. Traylor, S. I. Tannenbaum, E. J. Thomas, and E. Salas, "Helping healthcare teams save lives during covid-19: Insights and countermeasures from team science." *American psychologist*, vol. 76, no. 1, p. 1, 2021.
- [122] S. van Waveren, E. J. Carter, and I. Leite, "Take one for the team: The effects of error severity in collaborative tasks with social robots," in *Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, 2019, pp. 151–158.
- [123] E. M. Van Zoelen, E. I. Barakova, and M. Rauterberg, "Adaptive leader-follower behavior in human-robot collaboration," in 2020 29th IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2020, pp. 1259–1265.

- [124] F. Vigni and S. Rossi, "Exploring non-verbal strategies for initiating an hri," in *Interna*tional Conference on Social Robotics. Springer, 2022, pp. 280–289.
- [125] M. J. Waller and S. A. Kaplan, "Systematic behavioral observation for emergent team phenomena: Key considerations for quantitative video-based approaches," *Organizational Research Methods*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 500–515, 2018.
- [126] L. Wang, S. Liu, H. Liu, and X. V. Wang, "Overview of human-robot collaboration in manufacturing," in *Proceedings of 5th International Conference on the Industry 4.0 Model* for Advanced Manufacturing: AMP 2020. Springer, 2020, pp. 15–58.
- [127] A. Washburn, A. Adeleye, T. An, and L. D. Riek, "Robot errors in proximate hri: how functionality framing affects perceived reliability and trust," ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction (THRI), vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1–21, 2020.
- [128] E. Wiese, P. P. Weis, Y. Bigman, K. Kapsaskis, and K. Gray, "It's a match: Task assignment in human–robot collaboration depends on mind perception," *International Journal of Social Robotics*, pp. 1–8, 2022.
- [129] G. Wilk-Jakubowski, R. Harabin, and S. Ivanov, "Robotics in crisis management: A review," *Technology in Society*, vol. 68, p. 101935, 2022.
- [130] F. D. Wolf and R. M. Stock-Homburg, "How and when can robots be team members? three decades of research on human–robot teams," *Group & Organization Management*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1666–1744, 2023.
- [131] J. Xu and A. Howard, "Evaluating the impact of emotional apology on human-robot trust," in 2022 31st IEEE International Conference on Robot and Human Interactive Communication (RO-MAN). IEEE, 2022, pp. 1655–1661.
- [132] T. Yamada, H. Abe, and K. Kawabata, "Development of testing method considering tasks with remotely controlled robots in fukushima daiichi nuclear power station," in 2021 IEEE International Conference on Intelligence and Safety for Robotics (ISR). IEEE, 2021, pp. 131–134.
- [133] X. Zhang, S. K. Lee, H. Maeng, and S. Hahn, "Effects of failure types on trust repairs in human–robot interactions," *International Journal of Social Robotics*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 1619–1635, 2023.
- [134] L. Zhu and T. Williams, "Effects of proactive explanations by robots on human-robot trust," in Social Robotics: 12th International Conference, ICSR 2020, Golden, CO, USA, November 14–18, 2020, Proceedings 12. Springer, 2020, pp. 85–95.